Case 1:13-cr-00173-JBW Document 134 Filed 03/10/16 Page 26 of 33 PagelD #: 1177

Freeman, No. 09-CV-323-WMC, 2010 WL 2812959, at *2 (W.D. Wis. July 15,
2010) (“Being labeled ‘a fag’ is likely to heighten a prisoner's risk for physical or
sexual assault.”). As courts have explained in the context of downward sentencing
departures, characteristics like known gay identity, effeminate appearance, smail
stature and prior sexual victimization should give a sentencing judge pause to
consider downwardly departing. See, e.g., United States v. Lara, 905 F.2d 599,
605 (2d Cir. 1990) (affirming a downward departure based on sexual orientation
and “fragility” and noting that such factors made the defendant “particularly
vulnerable to in-prison victimization.”); Unifed States v. Ruff, 998 F. Supp. 1351,
1359 (M.D. Ala. 1998) (“Ruff is of small build, of feminine appearance, identifies
as a gay man, and has been sexually assaulted in prison in the past,” making assault
likely and supporting a downward departure).

Moreover, placing a vulnerable LGBT person such as Mr. Washington in
solitary confinement for the duration of his sentence does not alleviate — and in fact
would intensify — the serious constitutional problems of the sentence. See generally
Amicus Br. of Washington’s Lawyer’s Comm. As the Second Circuit noted in
affirming a downward departure of a prisoner sharing many of Mr. Washington’s
characteristics, “[t]he severity of [defendant’s] prison term is exacerbated by his
placement in solitary confinement as the only means of segregating him from other

inmates. We agree with the district court that this presents an extraordinary
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situation that warrants considering factors ‘ordinarily’ irrelevant.” United States v.
Lara, 905 F.2d at 603. Spending years in isolation for the purported purpose of
protection, for example, could give rise to separate constitutional violations,
independent of both PREA standards and the severe risk of sexual assault and
violence. See, e.g., Shoats v. Horn, 213 F.3d 140, 144 (3d Cir. 2000) (*we have no
difficulty concluding that eight years in administrative custody . . . is ‘atypical’
[and significant] in relation to the ordinary incidents of prison life”); Hatch v.
District of Columbia, 184 F.3d 846, 858 (D.C. Cir. 1999) (“even if the conditions
[the prisoner] faced were no more restrictive than ordinary conditions of
administrative segregation, the district court should determine whether its
duration—twenty-nine weeks . . .— was ‘atypical’ compared to the length of
administrative segregation routinely imposed on similarly situated prisoners™). The
Constitution indicates a downward departure where the Court assesses an
impermissible risk of harm while incarcerated.
CONCLUSION

There is perhaps no popular prejudice regarding our correctional system
more pervasive than the callous assumption that once convicted, a prisoner
deserves a fate in prison that includes inevitable sexual and physical abuse. Kim
Shayo Buchanan, Our Prisons, Qurselves: Race, Gender and the Rule of Law, 29

Yale L. & Pol’y Rev. 1, 2 (2010) (“Prison rape is a canard of popular culture.”).
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This case implicates not onky Mr. Washington’s life and well-being but also the
well-being of incarcerated people like him, and of society as a whole, As Justice
Blackmun wrote more than twenty years ago, “[p]rison rape not only threatens the
lives of those who fall prey to their aggressors, but is potentially devastating to the
human spirit. Shame, depression, and a shattering loss of self-esteem accompany
the perpetual terror the victim thereafter must endure.” Farmer, 511 U.S. at 853-54
(Blackmun, J., concurring). This terror and collapse of the human spirit will impact
all those with whom Mr. Washington comes in contact, both during and after his
incarceration and senids a message to society at large to accept such abuse as part
and parcel of the correctional system.

For the foregoing reasons, amici respectfully urge that the Court consider
Mr. Washington’s specific and well-documented vulnerabilities when determining

what constitutes a constitutionally permissible sentence.

Dated: March 10, 2016 Respectfully submitted,
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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HOUSTON DIVISION

JOSHUA D. ZOLLICOFFER a/k/a
PASSION STAR,
PlamtifT,
versus

BRAD LIVINGSTON, personally and in his
official capacity as Executive Director of the
Texas Department of Criminal Justice
(“TDCJI™);

WILLIAM STEPHENS, personally and in his
official capacity as Director of TDCJ’s
Correctional Institution Division;

LYNNE SHARP, personally and in her official
capacity as TDCJ Safe Prisons/PREA Manager
and PREA Ombudsman,;
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1. Plaintiff Joshua Zollicoffer a/k/a Passion Star (“Ms. Star” or “Plaintiff*)' is a
thirty-one-year-old transgender woman in the custody of the Texas Department of Criminal
Justice (“TDCJ”) who has been brutally attacked by men incarcerated with her and continues to
be tormented with escalating threats of assault, rape, and murder. Ms. Star has repeatedly begged
TDCIJ officials to protect her.

2. Deliberately indifferent to these harms, the defendants have repeatedly refused to
place Ms. Star in a secure housing placement, known as “safekeeping”” or take other reasonable
steps to reduce the acts and threats of harm to her. Instead, the defendants have forced Ms. Star
to remain in the general population near her aggressors, where she has faced documented serious
injuries and escalating risks of additional serious harm.

3. Further, despite knowing that TDCJ prisons have exceptionally high rates of
inmate-on-inmate assault, particularly against lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender (“LGBT™), and
gender-nonconforming people in custody, TDCJ officials condoned, ratified, and/or adopted
widespread practices and customs that caused Ms. Star to be harmed and failed to train and/or
supervise officers on policies and procedures that could have prevented the harm to her.

4. By this action, Ms. Star seeks preliminary and permanent injunctive relief to stop

the defendants’ ongoing constitutional violations, along with declaratory relief and damages.

1. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

3. Plaintiff brings this action seeking preliminary and permanent injunctive relief,

! Although Plaintiff’s fegal name is Joshua D). Zoilicoffer, she is known by and uses the name Passion Star in
accordance with her fernale gender identity. Accordingly, this complaint refers to Plaintiff as Ms. Star and uses
female pronouns to refer to her.

* Safekeeping status is a housing status assigned to individuals in custody who need protection from other inmates in
the general population, and whose need for protection could be met by housing them separately. In addition,
safekeeping offenders receive their recreation time and meals apart from the general population.
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declaratory relief, and damages pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §§ 1983 and 1988 to redress the
deprivation under color of state Jaw of rights secured by the United States Constitation.

6. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1343 and
jurisdiction to grant declaratory relief pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2201.

7. Venue is proper in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2) because a
substantial part of the relevant events occurred within the district, and pursuant to 28 U.S.C.
§ 1391(b)(1) because Defendants Livingston, Stephens, Sharp, Bales, White, Eason, Davis,
Armstrong, and Fuster reside in and have or had offices in this district, and all defendants are
residents of Texas. Moreover, Huntsville is the location of TDCJ’s headquarters and one of its
administrative offices.

8, This Court has personal jurisdiction over each and every defendant because, upon
information and belief, all defendants are residents of Texas and were employed in Texas acting

under color of state law during all relevant times.

IL. THE PARTIES

9. PLAINTIFF PASSION STAR, a citizen of Texas, is a transgender woman in the
custody of TDCJ. From approximately 2011 to 2013, Ms. Star was housed in the Hughes Unit in
Gatesville, Texas (“Hughes™). On or around December 6, 2013, she was moved to the Robertson
Unit in Abilene, Texas (“Robertson™). On or around November 17, 2014, Ms. Star was
transferred to the Clements Unit (“Clements™) in Amarillo, Texas, where she is currently housed.

10.  DEFENDANT BRAD LIVINGSTON (“Livingston™) is the Executive Director
of TDCJ. As such, Defendant Livingston is the commanding officer of all TDCJ correctional
officers, guards, and TDCJ employees and contractors, and is responsible for their training,

supervision, and conduct. He has ultimate responsibility within TDCJ for overseeing the day-to-
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day operation of state prison facilities, including the Hughes, Robertson, and Clements facilities,
and is responsible for ensuring that people incarcerated in TDC]J facilities are protected from
sexual assault and other violence and that correctional officers adhere to federal and state law, as
well as official TDCJ policy. Livingston has testified in connection with the high prevalence of
sexual assault in TDCJ facilities and the deficiencies with the implementation of Prison Rape
Elimination Act (“PREA”) in Texas. Defendant Livingston maintains an office in Walker
County, Texas, and upon information and belief, resides in Walker County, Texas. He is sued in
his official and personal capacities.

11. DEFENDANT WILLIAM STEPHENS (“Stephens™) is Director of Correctional
Institutions Division of TDCJ. As such, Defendant Stephens is responsible for their training,
supervision, and conduct of all TDCIJ correctional officers, guards, and TDCJ employees and
contractors. He has ultimate responsibility within TDXCJ for overseeing the day-to-day operation
of state prison facilities, including Hughes, Robertson, and Clements, and is responsible for
ensuring that people incarcerated in TDCJ facilities are protected from sexual assault and other
violence and that correctional officers adhere to federal and state law, as well as official TDCJ
policy. He is responsible for the Safe Prisons/PREA Management Office, Classification and
Records, Correctional Training and Staff Development, and the Security Threat Group
Management Office. Defendant Stephens maintains an office in Walker County, Texas and, upon
information and belief, resides in Walker County, Texas. He is sued in his official and personal
capacities.

12. DEFENDANT LYNNE SHARP (“Sharp™) was the TDCJ Safe Prisons/PREA
Manager during relevant times for this action. As the TDCJ Safe Prisons/PREA Manager, she

was responsible for the implementation and enforcement of TDCJ’s Safe Prisons/PREA Plan,
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enforcing TDCJ “zero tolerance policy™ toward sexual abuse and sexual harassment, and
overseeing unit and regional Safe Prisons/PREA managers at TDCJ facilities, including Hughes,
Robertson, and Clements. Defendant Sharp, now the PREA Ombudsman for TDCJ facilities,
including Hughes, Robertson, and Clements, maintains an office in Walker County, Texas, and
upon information and belief, resides in Walker County, Texas. She is sued in her official and
personal capacities.

13. DEFENDANT RALPH BALES (“Bales™) was the PREA Ombudsman during
relevant times for this action and had been appointed by the Texas Board of Criminal Justice to
respond to and eliminate the occurrence of sexual assault in correctional facilities, The primary
responsibilities of the PREA Ombudsman are to monitor department policies for the prevention
of sexual assault in correctional facilities; oversee the administrative investigation of inmate
complaints of sexual abuse; ensure the impartial resolution of inmate complaints of sexual
assaults; and collect statistics regarding all allegations of sexual abuse from TDCIJ correctional
facilities, including Hughes, Robertson, and Clements. Defendant Bales maintained an office in
Walker County, Texas, and upon information and belief, resides in Walker County, Texas. He is
sued in his personal capacity.

14. DEFENDANT JONI WHITE (“White™} is Assistant Director of TDCI’s
Classification and Records Department. She is responsible for supervising the management of
the State Classification Committee (“SCC™), Classification and Intake Operations, and the
Classification Records Office. She is also responsible for the overall management and
application of all TDCJ classification plans, policies, and procedures. Defendant White maintains
an office in Walker County, Texas, and resides in Walker County, Texas. She is sued in her

official and personal capacities.




Case 4:14-cv-03037 Document 35 Filed in TXSD on 01/28/15 Page 6 of 52

15. DEFENDANT ROBERT EASON (“Eason™} is the Deputy Director of the
Prison and Jail Operations Department in the Correctional Institutions Division of the TDCJ. As
such, he is responsible for overseeing, inter alia, the six Regional Directors, and managing
secure prisons, and other correctional facilities, in the state of Texas. He also oversees the
security operations department in the TDCJ. Defendant Eason maintains an office in Walker
County, Texas, and upon information and belief, resides in Walker County, Texas. He is sued in
his official and personal capacities.

16.  DEFENDANT LORIE DAVIS (“Davis™) is the Deputy Director of the
Management Operations Department in the Correctional Institutions Division of the TDCIJ. As
such, she is responsible for overseeing, infer alia, Correctional Training and Staff Development,
Plans and Operations, Safe Prisons/PREA Management Office, and Security Threat Group
Management Office in the TDCJ. Defendant Davis previously served as the director of the TDCJ
Correctional Institutions Division’s Correctional Training and Staff Development Department,
which provided fraining services to TDCJ employees. Defendant Davis maintains an office in
Walker County, Texas, and upon information and belief, resides in Walker County, Texas. She is
sued in her official and personal capacities.

17. DEFENDANT BRUCE ARMSTRONG (“Armstrong™) is an Assistant Regional
Director in the Correctional Institutions Division. As such, he is responsible for overseeing the
operations and safety of the units with his region, which include Hughes and Robertson.
Defendant Armstrong personally participated in the denial of one or more of Plaintiff’s
grievances as discussed below. Defendant Armstrong maintains an office in Walker County,
Texas, and upon information and belief, resides in Walker County, Texas. He is sued in his

personal capacity.
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18.  DEFENDANT FERNANDO FUSTER (“Fuster”) is an Assistant Regional
Director in the Correctional Institutions Division. As such, he is responsible for overseeing the
operations and safety of the units within his region, which include Hughes and Robertson.
Defendant Fuster personally participated in the denial of one or more of Plaintiff’s grievances as
discussed below. Defendant Fuster maintains an office in Walker County, Texas, and upon
informz;tion and belief, resides in Walker County, Texas. He is sued in his personal capacity.

19. DEFENDANT KENNETH DEAN (“Dean’) was a Senior Warden at Hughes
during all relevant times and, upon information and belief, is a resident of Texas. He is sued in
his personal capacity.

20. DEFENDANT BRIAN BLANCHARD (“Blanchard™) was an Assistant Warden
at Hughes during all relevant times and, upon information and belief, is a resident of Texas. He is
sued in his personal capacity.

21. DEFENDANT RENE MALDONADO (“Maldonado™) was an Assistant Warden
at Hughes during all relevant times and, upon information and belief, is a resident of Texas. He is
sued in his personal capacity.

22.  DEFENDANT RALPH MAREZ, JR. (“Marez”) was a Major at Hughes during
all relevant times and, upon information and belief, is a resident of Texas. He is sued in his
personal capacity.

23. DEFENDANT JAMES SIGMUND (“Sigmund”) was a Captain at Hughes
during all relevant times and, upon information and belief, is a resident of Texas. He is sued in
his personal capacity.

24.  DEFENDANT PRINCE PICKETT (“Pickett”) was a Sergeant supervising the

8 Building at Hughes during all relevant times and, upon information and belief, is a resident of
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Texas. He is sued in his personal capacity.

25. DEFENDANT LESLIE WALTERS (“Walters™) was a Classification Secretary
at Hughes during all relevant times and, upon information and belief, is a resident of Texas. She
is sued in her personal capacity.

26. At all relevant times, Defendants Livingston, Stephens, Sharp, Eason, Davis,
Bales, White, Armstrong, Fuster, Dean, Blanchard, Maldonado, Marez, Sigmund, Pickett,
Walters (collectively, “Defendants™) acted under color of state law.

27.  Plaintiff does not seek monetary damages against Defendants in their official
capacities.

III. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

28.  Ms. Star is a woman, who is black and transgender. She is transgender because
she was assigned the sex of male at birth, but identifies as a woman.’

29, On or around December 3, 2002, a week after her nineteenth birthday, Ms. Star
was sentenced to twenty years in prison and placed in the custody of TDCJ.* Since 2002, Ms.
Star has been housed in at least seven sex-segregated male TDCJ facilities. From 2003 to 2006,
she was housed in the Telford Unit in New Boston, Texas (“Telford™). From 2006 to 2007, she
was housed in the Allred Unit in Iowa Park, Texas (“Allred”). From 2007 to 2008, she was

housed in the Smith Unit in Lamesa, Texas (“Smith”). From 2008 to 2011, she was housed in the

¥ At earlier periods, when Ms. Star was less public about her transgender identity, she sometimes referred to herself
in grievances and other wrilten complaints as a gay man or a gay man with a female alias. While gender identity and
sexual orientation are not the same, either identity places Ms. Star in a category of inmates who are recognized as
particutarly vulnerable to sexual abuse.

* The conviction, which was for aggravated kidnapping, arose from allegations that, on or around August 16, 2002,
Ms. Star’s boyfriend at the time refused to return a used Chevrolet that he was test driving to the Chevrolet
dealership. Instead, he drove for nearly two hours with the salesman trapped in the passenger seat and Ms. Star in
the back seat.
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Coffield Unit in Tennessee Colony, Texas (“Coffield”). From 2011 to 2013, she was housed in
Hughes in Gatesville, Texas. From December 2013 to November 2014, she was housed in
Robertson in Abilene, Texas. In November 2014, she was transferred to Clements in Amarillo,
Texas.

30. In every facility, male inmates have identified Ms. Star as feminine and demanded
that she perform sexual acts for them or pay them for protection against such demands and the
repercussions of not acceding to such demands.

31.  TDCIJ employees have taken inadequate steps to protect Ms. Star, including but
not limited to, transferring her into the general population in different units and different
pods/buildings despite knowing that she would face the same threats and violence, rather than
placing Ms. Star in safekeeping or taking other reasonable steps to reduce the acts and threats of
harm to her. TDCJ employees, including Defendants, have been willfully blind to the ongoing
danger that Ms. Star faces, including the danger produced by the transfers themselves, which put
the spotlight on Ms. Star whenever she is introduced to a new unit or pod/building, faced with
the same demands for sexual favors that she has faced in each of the prior units and
pods/buildings.

Incidents Prior to Ms. Star’s Placement in Hughes and Robertson that Put
Defendants on Notice of Her Vulnerability to Sexual Assault

32, Prior to her transfer to Hughes, while in TDCJ custody, Ms. Star was raped,
sexually assaulted, forced into coercive sexual relationships, and threatened with violence by
other TDCJ inmates. Despite Ms. Star’s numerous complaints to TDCJ officials, insufficient

action was taken to protect her from the substantial risk of further serious harm.
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33, For example, while housed in Telford, a gang member known as I).D.” threatened
to hurt Ms. Star if she did not perform sexual acts for him or pay him with commissary items.
Ms. Star complained to prison officials about threats from D.D. and other inmates and told them
that she was gay with a female alias and feared for her safety. Prison officials did nothing to
reduce the threats of harm to Ms. Star and disciplined Ms. Star for declining to leave her cell
because she feared serious harm from D.D.

34.  Inan effort to gain protection from D.D. and other inmates, Ms. Star submitted to
a coerced sexual relationship with a gang member known as M.M. When Ms. Star attempted to
end that relationship, M.M. choked her until she agreed to remain in a sexual relationship with
him.

35.  In Allred, gang members, including P.X., identified Ms. Star as feminine and
threatened to harm her if she did not perform sexual acts for the gang. Ms. Star informed
correctional officers that she had received repeated threats, that she was gay, and that she feared
for her life. She asked them to place her in safekeeping, but her requests were denied. Ms.
Wright, a TDCJ employee in the Allred Unit, told her, “You’re black; you’ll be alright.”

36.  Inor about March 2007, TDCI officials assigned Ms. Star to share a cell with an
inmate named C.X., a member of another gang, who began to harass and sexually proposition
her. Ms. Star informed a guard that she felt unsafe around her cellmate, but the guard refused to
move Ms. Star to another cell or to remove her cellmate from the cell.

37.  Approximately two days later, on March 29, 2007, C.X. threatened Ms. Star with

a knife, held her down, and raped her. After Ms. Star reported the rape to a guard, begging him to

* In an attempt to avoid further retaliation and violence from inmates who have aiready threatened and/or harmed
her, Plaintiff has used initials to identify these inmates.

10
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help her, C.X. threw a fan at Ms. Star, cutting her head.

38.  Linda Remmert, a nurse at the Correctional Managed Care Clinic, treated Ms.
Star on March 29, 2007, the night of the rape. The nurse noted “dried secretions to anal area™ and
an abrasion at the top of Ms. Star’s head. The nurse examining Ms. Star the next day noted “due
to assault on 03/29/07 inmate feels unsafe around others.”

39.  After the rape, TDCIJ officials moved Ms. Star into solitary confinement for
approximately two weeks, leaving her alone, frightened, and emotionally distressed. She wrote
letters asking that C.X. be prosecuted for the rape, but was never informed whether or not he was
disciplined for raping her.

40.  Approximately two weeks later, despite her request to be placed in safekeeping,
TDCJ officials transferred Ms. Star into the general population of a new facility, Smith. Inmates
there again threatened Ms. Star with violence if she did not perform sex acts or pay for
protection. Her cellmate, O.R., threatened to rape Ms. Star and forced her to watch him
masturbate. Another inmate, P.O.X., demanded that Ms. Star perform sex acts for him if she did
not want to be hurt. Ms. Star reported the threats to TDCIJ staff verbally and in writing, but
officials refused to take the actions necessary to help her.

41.  Correctional officers responded to Ms. Star’s requests for protection by telling her
“you can’t rape someone who’s gay,” telling her she was having the time of her life, frequently
calling her “faggot,” and suggesting she was enjoying the attention.

42, In 2008, Ms. Star was transferred into the general population in Coffield, where
she was again threatened with sexual assault by an inmate named T.K. In part because he
threatened her and in part because he offered to protect her from other predatory men, Ms. Star

entered a coerced sexual relationship with T.K. When Ms. Star tried to end the relationship, T.K.

11
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punched her on the left side of her jaw, breaking one of her teeth and causing it to puncture her
lip. In fear for her well-being, Ms. Star returned to the coerced sexual relationship with T.K.

Defendants’ Failures to Protect Ms. Star From Assaults and Threats Directed at
Her by Other Inmates in Hughes Between 2011 and November 15, 2013

43.  Inapproximately July 2011, TDCJ officials transferred Ms. Star to Hughes, where
she experienced more threats and attempts to sexually exploit her. Ms. Star lived in constant fear
that she would be raped again or seriously harmed.

44.  Ms. Star was threatened by various incarcerated people associated with the Crips
gang. One member, known as T.X., called her “faggot™ and regularly threatened to assault her.
On December 25, 2011, T.X. attacked Ms. Star, punching her in the head, face, and torso. Ms.
Star reported the threats and the assault to TDXCJ officials verbally and in writing.

45, On February 3, 2012, Ms. Star submitted a grievance in which she described
threats she was receiving from gang members and requested to be placed in safekeeping; Ms.
Star explained that she is gay, not affiliated with a gang, and did not feel safe. On February 8,
2012, Defendant Blanchard denied the grievance, writing, “No action taken due to lack of
evidence. No further action will be taken at this time.”

46.  Upon information and belief, Defendant Blanchard did not investigate Ms.
Star’s claims prior to denying her grievance, despite his obligation to do so, and despite the fact
that Ms. Star had a documented history of being raped and threatened with violence. Moreover,
Defendant Blanchard’s denial of the grievance due to “lack of evidence™ was unreasonable
because it is unclear what other evidence could be required in order for Ms. Star to prove that she
was entitled to protection from further assaults and threats.

47.  Ms. Star requested in writing approximately five times between December 2012

and May 2013 that she be transferred to a dormitory. Upon information and belief, dormitories

12
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are safer than the cell blocks because they are patrolled more frequently by TDCIJ staff and have
more security cameras than cell blocks. Ms. Star’s requests were denied, despite her documented
history of being sexually abused, assaulted, and threatened, and her vulnerable status. Ms. Star
complained to Defendant Marez and to the grievance committee about the denial of her requests
to be moved to donmitories and the threats to her safety.

48.  Inor around March 2012, Bloods gang members, including E.I., demanded that
Ms. Star pay for their protection or “ride,” meaning perform sexual acts for them. In or around
March 2013, Ms. Star also complained to correctional officers about threats she was receiving
from R.B., who was incarcerated in the unit. In or around 2013, a Bloods gang member known as
A X, began writing sexually explicit letters to Ms. Star, demanding that she perform sexual acts
for him in return for his protection. Another Blood, known as C.Y . X., made similar demands of
Ms. Star.

49.  Ms. Star informed TDCJ officials of the threats and demands, including Officer
Thompson on or around April 19, 2013, and requested to be moved out of the general population
and placed in safekeeping. TDCI staff did not take reasonable steps to protect her and instead
placed Ms. Star at risk for further assault. For example, Lieutenant Aragon called Ms. Star a
“snitch” and a “punk” in front of other inmates during lineup, and Sergeant Lopez told Ms. Star
in front of other inmates that she should “stop doing gay shit” or fight, instructions which left her
vulnerable to sexual assault and disciplinary sanction. Officer Thompson and other officers
routinely pretended to grab Ms. Star’s buftocks, which they referred to as the “grab-ass” game.

50,  OnMay 12,2013, C.Y.X. and A.X. jointly confronted Ms. Star while she was at
church and accused her of “snitching” on them. C.Y X. said that a correctional officer had

informed C.Y.X. that Ms. Star had reported that C.Y.X. was a gang member who threatened to
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sneak into her pod and assault her any chance that he got. A.X. punched Ms. Star on the right
side of her jaw, causing swelling and pain to her jaw and face.

51.  Ms. Star went to the infirmary after the assault. She reported the attack and the
threats to TDCJ officials verbally and in writing.

52.  Defendant Blanchard, who had reviewed previous requests for protection from
Ms. Star, denied her grievance on May 20, 2013, using formulaic language: “[ T]here was no
evidence or witnesses presented to substantiate your claims. No further action is warranted at this
time.” Defendant Blanchard failed to actively investigate Ms. Star’s complaints and was
deliberately indifferent to her obvious vulnerability based on her gender identity, perceived
sexual orientation, history of victimization, and the physical evidence of the assault by A.X. He
also imposed an unreasonable standard to be entitled to protection—that in order to be entitled to
protection from threats and assaults, an inmate must have corroborating witnesses to threats énd
assaults that rarely have corroborating witnesses, especially when witnesses are threatened with
being labeled a “snitch” and being assaulted because they have snitched.

53. In October 2013, an inmate known as C.F. threatened to assault Ms. Star if she
did not perform sexual acts for him. When she refused, he attacked her on October 2, 2013 in the
hallway by the dining hall, cutting her lip and her left hand, causing swelling and bruising on the
left side of her face and jaw line and a knot on the left side of her head.

54.  Ms. Star filed a grievance regarding the assault and threats from C.F. On
October 22, 2013, Defendant Blanchard responded that “evidence was insufficient” and again
decided that no action was warranted to protect Ms. Star. Defendant Blanchard again imposed an
unreasonable standard and was deliberately indifferent to Ms. Star’s obvious vulnerability based

on her gender identity, perceived sexual orientation, history of victimization, and the physical
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evidence of her injuries.

55. On October 17, 2013, in desperation, Ms. Star wrote a letter to Defendant Dean,
the Senior Warden at Hughes, explaining that she feared violence because of her sexual
orientation and requesting to meet with him to discuss the possibility of being placed in
safekeeping. He did not meet with her, nor did he place her in safekeeping or take other
reasonable action to protect her from further threats and harm.

56.  Ms. Star continued to receive threats and unwanted sexuval advances from inmates
in the general population at Hughes. For example, in 2013, J.T., 2a member of the Crips gang,
sexually propositioned Ms. Star whenever he saw her.,

57. On November 4, 2013, Ms. Star attended a meeting with the Unit Classification
Committee (“UCC™), headed by Defendant Marez. She told Defendant Marez and the other
members of the UCC that she was gay with a female alias, that she had been raped by inmates in
the past, and that she had been repeatedly threatened with sexual and other violence. She
explained that she feared for her life and requested to be reassigned to safekeeping and protected.

58.  Defendant Marez and the other members of the UCC denied Ms. Star’s request
for safekeeping, refusing to take steps necessary to protect her and forcing her back into the
general population.

59.  Ms. Star submitted a written grievance on November 6, 2013, appealing the
UCC’s November 4, 2013, decision to deny her safekeeping request. It stated:

I am gay and have been taken advantage of in the past. . . . My documented alias

is ‘Passion” which is not masculine at all. All of my problems stem from being a

homosexual in a general population of offenders who have constantly attempted

to take advantage of me or request sexual favors. . . . During my time in

prison, . . . I have only been moved from 1 pod to another or section in general

population where these same offenders and their gang affiliated homeboys still

have easy access to get to me. TDCJ does not control the gang influenced general
population enough to ensure . . . homosexual offenders safety from being
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assaulted, threatened or extorted.

60. On November 13, 2013, during a church service, J.T. threatened Ms. Star again.
He said loudly in front of other Crips that Ms. Star “belonged” to him. He told her that refusal
was not an option and that, since she was gay, she had to “stay in a ho’s place.”

6l. The next day, November 14, 2013, Defendant Blanchard denied Ms. Star’s
November 6, 2014 grievance, responding solely: “You did not meet the criteria to be placed in
safekeeping.” Defendant Blanchard did not explain what the criteria were or inform Ms. Star of
any recourse she might take to obtain protection against assault,

62. On November 15, 2013, Officer Johnson and Officer Deevers, members of the
Security Threat Group, were sent to interview Ms. Star about the gang threats to her as a result of
an offender protection investigation initiated by her building supervisor. Instead of taking Ms.
Star seriously, Officer Johnson told her, “You’ve fought once. Fight again,” again putting Ms.
Star at risk of sexual assault and disciplinary sanction. Officer Deevers told Ms. Star that they
had no intent of forwarding Ms. Star’s request for help to the Safe Prisons Program.

63.  Ms. Star appealed the UCC’s denial of her request to be in safekeeping to the
State Classification Conumittee (“SCC™) on November 15, 2013, stating that she lives with the
“constant threat of being hurt” because she is gay and effeminate in the general population. She
also explained that she has been forced “to be sexually active in the past to ensure [her] safety
and to protect [herself] from aggressive cellies.”

November 19 and 20, 2013: Pleas for Safekeeping are Ignored., with Horrific Results

64.  On November 19, 2013, Ms. Star again appeared in front of the UCC, composed
of Defendant Blanchard, Defendant Walters, and Defendant Sigmund. Ms. Star told them

about the threats she received from J.T. and other inmates and again requested to be placed in
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safekeeping. Defendant Blanchard, Defendant Walters, and Defendant Sigmuand denied Ms.
Star’s request for protection and ordered her to be returned to “the next available cell” in her
custody level in the general population,

65.  Prior to reporting the threats, Ms. Star and J.T. were housed on different pods. On
November 19, 2013, TDCJ officials, including Defendants Blanchard, Walters, and Sigmund,
in deliberate indifference to the substantial risk to Ms. Star’s safety, moved her info 8 Building,
L-Pod, where J.T., the specifically identified person from whom she was seeking protection, was
housed.

66.  On this same day, November 19, 2013, on her way to dinner, Ms. Star appealed to
Defendant Pickett, the 8 Building supervisor, for help. She explained the history of violence
and threats directed against her by other inmates in Hughes and told him that she had already
received threats from Crips gang members, that day, since being moved to L. Pod. Defendant
Pickett told her that it was “not [his] problem™ and refused to do anything to help her.

67.  That evening, Ms. Star filed én emergency grievance appealing the UCC’s denial,
again requesting to be moved to safekeeping, and explaining the threats that she had received
from J.T. and other Crips.

68.  The very next morning, November 20, 2013, the assault that she had been begging
to be protected from occurred. J.T. and other Crips gang members brutally attacked Ms. Star
from behind as she headed to breakfast. J.T. called her a “snitching faggot.” As other members of
J.T.’s gang watched, J.T. repeatedly slashed Ms. Star’s face with a razor while she struggled
(the “Razor Attack™). One cut came within a quarter of an inch of her right eye. Ms. Star bled
profusely and suffered intense pain.

69.  As aresult of the brutal Razor Attack, Ms. Star was taken to Correctional
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Managed Care. The nurse who treated Ms. Star, on November 20, 2013, noted “lacerations to the
facial area,” that required a total of 36 sutures. These included a laceration to the top of her right
forehead, 5-72 centimeters long, closed with 8 sutures; one above her right eyebrow, 5-%
centimeters long, closed with 9 sutures; one on the outer edge of her right eve, 4 centimeters
long, closed with 7 sutures; and two below her right eye, both 5 centimeters long, closed with 8
sutures and 4 sutures, respectively. The nurse also noted a one-centimeter laceration on the top of
Ms. Star’s right ear crease, which was closed with Dermabond, and two additional lacerations
deemed superficial, on the top of her head and on her right check.

70.  Despite the sutures and Dermabond, several of the lacerations reopened, causing
Ms. Star to bleed further. These lacerations are leaving prominent, raised scars on her face,
which are likely to be permanent.

71.  After the Razor Attack, Defendant Sigmund brought Ms. Star her property. Ms.
Star told Defendant Sigmund to look at her and said that she would have to live with this—
meaning the lacerations and scarring—for the rest of her life. Defendant Sigmund said only,
“Ah, man,” and left.

72. On November 22, 2013, two days after the Razor Attack occurred, Defendant
Maldonado denied the grievance requesting assignment to safekeeping that Ms. Star had
submitted on November 19, 2013, prior to the Razor Attack. Defendant Maldonado wrote,
“You were seen by UCC on 11/19/13.... The committee did not find sufficient evidence to
support your allegations. Due to lack of evidence you were released from transient and scheduled
to move to the next available cell in your custody.”

73.  Defendant Maldenado failed to mention that since grieving the UCC’s decision

to deny her protection on November 19, 2013, the attack that Ms. Star had warned would happen
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had indeed happened. Defendant Maldonado failed to conduct an active investigation into Ms.
Star’s urgent pleas for help and was deliberately indifferent to her statements that she was in
danger despite her vulnerable status based on her gender identity, perceived sexual orientation,
and history of victimization, and the recent mutilation of her face by J.T,

74, On November 22, 2013, Ms. Star was again taken in front of the UCC, composed
of Defendant Blanchard, Defendant Walters and Defendant Sigmund. Ms. Star again
informed Defendant Blanchard, Defendant Walters, and Defendant Sigmund of the assaults
and the threats against her, including the Razor Attack, and requested to be placed in
safekeeping.

75. Despite the recent attack, the razor wounds, and Ms. Star’s obvious vulnerability,
Defendant Blanchard, Defendant Walters, and Defendant Sigmund again denied Ms. Star’s
request to be housed in safekeeping. Defendant Blanchard, Defendant Walters, and
Defendant Sigmund instead recommended that Ms. Star be transferred to the general population
of another unit.

76.  Defendant Blanchard, Defendant Walters, and Defendant Sigmund
recommended unit transfer even though they knew that gay men and transgender women were
generally vulnerable to sexual assault, that gangs operated throughout TDCJ, and that Ms. Star
would be targeted by members of I.T.’s gang in the new unit. Upon information and belief,
Defendant Blanchard, Defendant Walters, and Defendant Sigmund were aware that
transferring Ms. Star to the general population of a different unit had been ineffective to protect
Ms. Star in the past and would be ineffective to protect her from further serious harms. While
informing Ms. Star on November 22, 2013, of the UCC’s decision to transfer her rather than

place her in safekeeping, Defendant Blanchard taunted Ms, Star, “Now I bet you really feel like
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your life is in danger.”

77. On November 26, 2013, Defendant Maldonado concluded, when reviewing a
grievance submitted by Ms. Star on November 20, 2013 after the Razor Attack, that at last there
was “sufficient evidence™ to support Ms. Star’s claims, but instead of approving Ms. Star’s
request to be placed in safekeeping, Defendant Maldonado recommended that Ms. Star be
transferred to the general population in a different unit. Defendant Maldonado denied the
request for safekeeping even though he was aware that transferring Ms. Star to the general
population of a different unit had been ineffective to protect Ms. Star in the past and would be
ineffective to protect her from future harm.

78.  On November 29, 2013, Ms. Star appealed the decision to send her to general
population in a new unit, stating that:

simply recommending that I be transferred off the unit isn’t enough to ensure that

T am no longer victimized.... T followed instruction and was placed back into a

position to be hurt—knowingly. So, I request safekeeping away from the general

population of offenders that have victimized me and will continue to do so.

79. Defendant Armstrong, who had previocusly reviewed other grievances appealed
by Ms. Star to the SCC and was on notice that Ms. Star was particularly vulnerable to abuse in
the general population, reviewed Ms. Star’s November 29, 2013 grievance. On January 8, 2014,
Defendant Armstrong denied Ms. Star’s appeal, indicating that Ms. Star had been designated
“not for same unit” as J.T., transferred to Robertson, and that no further action was warranted.
Defendant Armstrong disregarded the fact that transferring Ms. Star to a new unit would not

protect her, rubber-stamped the UCC’s actions, failed to actively investigate Ms. Star’s claims,

and was deliberately indifferent to the significant threat of serious harm to Ms. Star.

20



Case 4:14-cv-03037 Document 35 Filed in TXSD on 01/28/15 Page 21 of 52

Defendants® Failures fo Protect Ms. Star From Assaults and Threats Directed at Ms.

Star by Other Inmates in Robertson

80.  On December 6, 2013, TDCJ officials transferred Ms, Star to the general
population in Robertson. TDCT officials did not use the relevant information available at intake,
including Ms. Star’s history of sexual abuse and gender identity to screen her for vulnerability
and separate her from likely aggressors.

81.  J.T., the instigator of the Razor Attack, had been housed in the general population
of Robertson prior to his transfer to Hughes, and he was well known at Robertson as a high-
ranking member of the Crips gang.

82.  Soon after she arrived in Robertson, Crip gang member T.T. spread the word
among the Crips in Robertson that Ms. Star was a “snitching faggot” and told Ms. Star that the
Crips at Robertson would finish what J. T. started,

83.  Inmates in Robertson also identified her as feminine and aggressively
propositioned her for sex. For example, from January to March 2014, a Crips gang member
known as C.G.X. repeatedly pressured Ms. Star to perform sexual acts for him in return for her
safety, C.G.X. told Ms. Star that she had to find a man to protect her, or be raped.

84.  Ms. Star informed correctional officers of the threats against her, but they failed
to take reasonable steps to protect her.

85.  Onor around December 11, 2013, in response to her request for an offender
protection investigation (“OP1”"), Defendant Lopez told Ms. Star to “suck dick, fight or quit
doing gay shit and you’ll be okay but quit running me with OPIs,” again putting Ms. Star in the
unreasonable position of risking disciplinary action for fighting back.

86.  OnDecember 12, 2013, Ms. Star appeared before the UCC in Robertson and

explained that she was gay, had a history of sexual and physical assaults in other TDCJ facilities,
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including the recent Razor Attack by J.T., as well as the sexual coercion she had experienced at
the hands of other TDCJ inmates, and was afraid that she would be targeted by the Crips in
Robertson once they learned about the incident with J.T. Ms. Star explained that she feared for
her life, and requested to be placed in safekeeping, but her request was denied.

87.  Ms, Star filed and appealed additional grievances in which she explained that J.T.
had until recently been a high ranking member of the Crips gang on Robertson, members of the
Crips gang associated with J.T. were housed in close proximity to her, and that she feared that
she would be attacked again. Defendant Armstrong, on behalf of the SCC, disregarded the
substantial risk of serious harm to Ms. Star and denied Ms. Star’s grievances in which she sought
additional protection on or around January 30, 2014, February 6, 2014, and February 21, 2014,

88. In or around March 2014, an inmate known as P.N., also a member of the Crips,
sent Ms. Star a letter threatening to kill Ms. Star, Ms. Star gave the letter from P.N. to Officer
Scott, a member of the Security Threat Group, on or around March 27, 2014, and asked for help
and protection, but he did not take action to help her.

89.  In desperation and fear, Ms. Star sent letters to the Safe Prisons Program
Coordinator, Defendant White at the SCC, and Defendant Bales, the PREA ombudsman,
begging for help.

90.  On April 7, 2014, Ms. Star appeared in front of the UCC at Robertson, headed by
Assistant Warden Gonzales, and again explained the threats to her safety and begged to be
placed in safekeeping. The UCC denied Ms. Star’s request to be placed in safekeeping, but
recommended that the SCC approve her for transfer to the general population of yet another new
unit.

91.  Ms. Star renewed her plea to be placed in safekeeping and informed the SCC that
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transferring her to general population in a new unit would not be sufficient to protect her. On
April 9, 2014, she wrote in a grievance that the dangers to her were
all rooted in the fact that I am a homosexual housed in the gang influenced
general population of offenders... Just recommending that T be transferred to
another unit will not ensure my safety, just as it did not after the 3-29-07 sexunal
assault, nor after the 11-20-13 assault with a weapon. I am an offender with a
‘potential for victimization’, otherwise I wouldn’t be constantly victimized and
threatened by other offenders,
92. Soon after, Ms. Star received a response from Defendant Bales dated
April 8, 2014, acknowledging receipt of her letters to him dated March 27, 2014, and
March 28, 2014, in which she described her history and the threats to which she had been
subjected at Robertson. Defendant Bales wrote that the “unit administration was unable to

(244

substantiate the allegations,” explaining that ““unsubstantiated” means there was insufficient
evidence to determine if the incident occurred or did not occur.” In deliberate indifference to Ms.

Star’s safety, the PREA Ombudsman failed to conduct an active or independent investigation or

to take Ms. Star’s claims seriously, despite the history of victimization, vulnerability, and clear

evidence of her prior injuries. Instead, Defendant Bales informed Ms. Star that the inquiry
would be closed and no further action would be taken.

93.  Ms. Star again sent a letter to Defendant Bales on May 13, 2014, writing that she
had been calied a “snitching faggot ... told that | need to find a man and threatened with rape.”

94.  OnMay 30, 2014, Defendant Armstrong denied Ms. Star’s appeal to the SCC.
Defendant Armstrong informed Ms. Star in writing that the SCC had not only rejected Ms.
Star’s request to be moved to safekeeping, but had also rejected the UCC’s recommendation that
Ms. Star be transferred to a different unit. Despite being aware of Ms. Star’s history of being
threatened and assaulted, including the assault in Hughes, Defendant Armstrong instructed that

Ms. Star should be placed back in the general population in Robertson in the midst of the
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incarcerated people Defendant Armstrong had been informed were threatening Ms. Star’s life.

95, On or about June, 5, 2014, Ms. Star again appeared in front of the UCC at
Robertson headed by Assistant Warden Gonzales and explained the threats that she was
receiving and her fear for her safety. This time the UCC agreed that Ms. Star should be placed in
safekeeping as a result of vulnerability and the risk of serious harm to her and sent a
recommendation to the SCC that Ms. Star be transferred to safekeeping.

96, On or around June 17, 2014, Warden Fox informed Ms. Star that the SCC had
denied the UCC’s recommendation to place her in safekeeping, meaning that the staff at the SCC
thought that Ms. Star should remain in the general population in Robertson even though they
knew that her life was at risk.

97.  After the SCC denied the UCC’s recomimendation of unit transfer, the Senior
Warden at Robertson moved Ms. Star to a different building, Building 3, in the general
population at Robertson on or about June 17, 2014.

98.  Soon after she arrived in Building 3, T.T. spread word to the Crips gang members
there that Passion was a “snitching faggot” who should be killed. A Crips gang member in
Building 3, known as T.K.X., told Ms. Star that she would be killed. He called her a “snitch” and
a “faggot” and said that she could not “run forever” but would sooner or later “have to face the
consequences” because she rejected IT. and pressed charges against him. Ms. Star received
similar threats from other members of the Crips in Building 3.

99.  Ms. Star filed another grievance on July 21, 2014, detailing threats she had
received from Crips gang members in the new building. She said that the Crips wanted to
retaliate against her because of her conflict with J.T. while at Hughes. She wrote, “I have been

told that T will be killed if T remain in population.”
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160.  On or around July 27, 2014, the day after an outside attorney visited Ms. Star for

the first time in Robertson, Sergeant Marquez moved Ms. Star into isolation, where she remained
until November 16, 2014. During this time, Ms. Star was confined to a cell approximately 10
feet by 8 feet, for more than 23 hours per day. Defendants kept Ms. Star in involuntary
segregated housing for more than 110 days, without a disciplinary infraction or a hearing.

101, When Ms. Star asked Correctional Officer Lopez why she was stuck in solitary

without a hearing or a disciplinary infraction, while the investigation into the threats against her
was pending, Lopez told her to “quit filing OPIs,” if she did not want to be in isolation.

102.  Upon information and belief, Defendants use confinement in isolation and the
threat of isolation to deter people in custody from complaining about sexual abuse, threats, and
other assaults.

103.  As aresult of her inveluntary confinement in isolation, Ms. Star suffered from !
depression, had trouble sleeping, constantly thought about past incidents of sexual assault, and
lived in constant fear that at any moment she would be thrown back into the general population
to be raped again, instead of being moved to safekeeping. While confined in isolation, she was
denied opportunities to attend church, work, study, call her family, and go to the law or regular
libraries. For a large portion of her time in isolation, she was even denied the one hour of daily
recreation time afforded to inmates housed in administrative segregation,

104.  On August 1, 2014, Ms. Star appeared in front of the UCC headed by Assistant
Warden Webb and again asked to be placed in safekeeping. She told the UCC that her problems
related to her being a transgender woman confined in the general population in a male prison.

Assistant Warden Webb replied, “It’s a man’s prison. You can’t expect to walk around acting

like that and not have problems.” Denying Ms. Star’s request for safekeeping, this time the UCC
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recommended that she be transferred away from Robertson due to the risk to her safety and
moved into general population in yet another new unit.

105. On August 1, 2014, and again on Aungust 11, 2014, Ms. Star filed more
grievances, outlining the threats made to her safety by gang members and requesting placement
in safekeeping. In the August 11, 2014 grievance, Ms. Star wrote:

[T]ransferring me from unit to unit in general population does nothing to rectify

this problem that is pervasive.... I have been threatened with my life as well as

threatened with rape. Housing me in general population to repeat the same cycles

with different offenders is absurd....

106. The next day, Ms. Star wrote directly to SCC, headed by Defendant White,
requesting placement in safekeeping. She identified herself as a transgender woman and again
explained that her “life is in danger.”

107.  On September 8, 2014, a transgender woman called Renee Divine was brought
into the wing where Ms. Star was confined on a stretcher. Ms. Divine told Ms. Star that she had
been sexually assaulted by her cellmate in her previous building. Ms. Star also learned that when
Ms. Divine reported the rape to Sergeant Lopez, instead of taking her for medical care and filing
a report, Sergeant Lopez forced Ms. Divine to take a shower and placed her back in the cell with
her assailant, who raped her again.

108.  When Ms, Star attempted to intervene on behalf of Ms. Divine, Officer Snodgrass
told her, “Shut up! Mind your own business, faggot,” and threatened Ms. Star with a disciplinary
and “food loaf” as punishment. Upset by the treatment of Ms. Divine and fearing that Ms. Divine
would not be able to file a grievance, on September 10, 2014, Ms. Star submitted a grievance
reporting the alleged rape of Ms. Divine and the threats she had received from officers when she

tried to hel'p Ms. Divine. After Ms. Star filed the grievance, a grievance officer came to her cell

and told her that she was permitted only to write grievances about issues that concerned her
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personally—even though federal law provides otherwise.

109.  After Ms. Star attempted to help Ms. Divine, TDCTJ officials transferred Ms. Star
on or around September 15, 2014, to a different solitary cell where she remained in isolation in
Building 12.

110.  On or around September 17, 2014, the SCC, denied Ms. Star’s request for
safekeeping and the UCC’s recommendation that Ms. Star be transferred to a new unit, in effect
ordering Ms. Star back into the general population in Robertson, where the risk that she would be
seriously harmed again was substantial.

111, The UCC at Robertson decided to appeal the SCC’s rejection of their last
recommendation that Ms. Star be transferred away from Robertson because of the risk of serious
harm to Ms. Star if she was placed back in the general population. Even though the UCC knew
that sending Ms. Star to general population in a new unit would not be sufficient to protect her,
the UCC did not appeal the SCC’s denial of its June 5, 2014 recommendation that she be placed
in safekeeping.

112.  Onor around September 26, 2014, Defendant Fuster, writing on behalf of the
SCC, denied another of Ms. Star’s grievances in which she sought additional protection and
placement in safekeeping. Even though Defendant Fuster possessed information about the
current threats to Ms, Star in Robertson and Ms. Star’s vulnerability and documented history of
being threatened and assaulted, he failed to take reasonable steps to protect her from the risk of
serious harm.

The Cvcle Repeats: Continued Fear of Sericus Harm in a New Unit, Clements

113, On November 17, 2014, Passion was transferred from Robertson to Clements,

where she was assigned housing in the general population.
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114. During intake, Ms. Star told TDCJ staff at Clements, including the Safe Prison
Coordinator at Clements, that she was a transgender woman, that she had a history of being
assaulted, and that she was afraid that she would have the same problems in Clements that she
had in the six previous units where she had been housed. Instead of expressing concern for her
safety, TDCJ staff made fun of her gender identity. The Safe Prison Coordinator on the unit
discouraged her from expressing her gender identity, telling her it would lead to problems.

115,  TDCIJ staff at Clements reviewed Ms. Star’s record of “offender protection
investigations” and attempted to discourage her from filing complaints while at Clements. They
threatened to cause problems for Ms. Star, including writing her up and provoking fights with
her cellmate, if she continued to file requests for protection and grievances as she had done in
other units.

116. In November 2014, Ms. Star met with psychologist Ledbetter at Clements, who
asked her about her transgender identity. Ms. Ledbetter insisted that Ms. Star was a man and not
a woman and tried to force Ms. Star to admit that she could not be a woman. Ms. Star was upset
by her interaction with Ms. Ledbetter.

117, Ms, Star has seen several people at Clements who were previously incarcerated
with her either at Coffield or Hughes. For example, J.C., a Crip and a close friend of I.T.’s was
previously at Hughes when Ms. Star was there and is now at Clements. J.C. was present with
J.T. when he threatened Ms. Star on November 19, 2013---the day before the Razor Attack.
K.H., a Crip who is also now at Clements, was incarcerated at Coffield when Ms. Star was there
and made aggressive sexual advances towards Ms. Star at Coffield until T.K., with whom Ms,
Star was in a violent, coerced sexual relationship, made K.H. stop.

118. Ms. Star has also run into correctional officers at Clements whom she knows from
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her incarceration in other units—officers who know about problems she has had on other units as
a result of her gender identity and/or perceived sexual orientation.

119.  Ms. Star fears that problems that she has had on other units could follow her to
Clements and reignite. She is afraid that as a result she will be attacked again.

120.  Soon after arriving in Clements, Ms. Star was propositioned and questioned by
people in custody as to whether she was in a relationship. T.C., a member of the Mandingo
Warriors gang, threatened to hurt her if she did not perform sexual acts for him. T.C. called Ms.
Star a “ho” and told her, “you have to have a man.” Another incarcerated person grabbed her
buttocks and demanded that she perform sexual acts with him.

121.  Since January 2015, K.H., a Crip who knows Ms. Star from Cofficld, has been
aggressively propositioning Ms. Star for sexual favors. K.H. told other incarcerated people,
including many Crips at Clements, that Ms. Star belonged with him and sent a messenger to
arrange a meeting between them, which Ms. Star avoided.

122. Ms. Star, who does not want to be forced into a sexual relationship, is afraid that
she will sexually assaulted or attacked as a result of her refusal to perform sexual acts for
incarcerated people at Clements.

123.  As aresult of the threats from correctional officers in Clements, Ms. Star is afraid
to complain to them about the threats to her safety. She is afraid that they will retaliate against
her rather than helping her, including by allowing other incarcerated people to harm her or
confining her to suffer in involuntary, isolated segregation again.

124.  Even though Ms. Star is afraid that she will be more at risk of harm if she
complains about the threats against her, Ms. Star is determined to do so. Ms. Star is filing

administrative grievances. She is also writing letters to Defendant White at the SCC and
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Defendant Sharp, the current PREA Ombudsman, to confirm that moving her to a new unit has
not been sufficient to protect her and repeating her request to be moved to safekeeping.

Particular Vulnerability of LGBT People in Custody

125. At all times relevant to this action, Defendants were aware that LGBT people, like
Ms. Star, are particularly vulnerable to sexual abuse while incarcerated in TDCJ facilities and
that there is a heightened risk that they will be sexually or physical assaulted. Defendants knew
that LGBT and gender-nonconforming people are sexually abused more frequently in prisons
and jails than other inmates and are widely considered particularly vulnerable to sexual abuse in
the correctional context.

126. At all times relevant to this action, Defendants were aware of PREA, which was
unanimously passed by the Texas Legislature and signed into law by former Texas Governor
George W. Bush in 2003.° TDCJ administrators, including Defendant Livingston, participated
in public hearings conducted by the bipartisan National Prison Rape Elimination Commission
(“NPREC™), submitted comments on the proposed standards in May 2010 and April 2011, and
provided documents used by the NPREC in preparing its recommendations. After years of study,
NPREC released its report and recommended national standards, finding that: “Sexual abuse is
not an inevitable feature of incarceration. Leadership matters because corrections administrators
can create a culture within facilities that promotes safety instead of one that tolerates abuse.”
NPREC noted that “[r]esearch on sexual abuse in correctional facilities consistently documents
the vulnerability of men and women with non-heterosexual orientations and transgender

individuals” and specifically noted “that full adoption of the PREA standards by all of the

§ As part of PREA, Congress established the bipartisan National Prison Rape Elimination Commission to jnvestigate
the problem of sexual abuse of people in government custody and to propose standards to eliminate such sexual
abuse. The final standards became effective Junc 20, 2012, when they were published in the Federal Register. See
28 C.¥.R. Part 115.
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nation’s prisons and jails is necessary to achieve the climination of sexual abuse in confinement
facilities.”

127, Defendants also are aware that LGBT people are particularly vulnerable because
this information is readily available on the website and in publications of various correctional
associations, including the Department of Justice, the National Institute of Corrections, and the
American Jail Association. For example, the American Jail Association has reported that
“|m]ore than any other group, male-to-female transgender inmates (trans women) who are
housed with men are at risk for sexual victimization and harassment in jails and prisons,” and the
National Institute of Corrections noted that while incarcerated, “men and women with
nonheterosexual orientations, transgender individuals, and people with intersex conditions were
highly vulnerable to sexual abuse.”

128.  The vulnerability of LGBT people to sexual assault while incarcerated has also
been discussed by organizations, such as Human Rights Watch and Just Detention International,
and the press, such as the Houston Chronicle and the Los Angeles Times.

129.  TDCJs written policy recommends that an inmate’s sexual orientation and/or
gender identity be taken into account when assigning housing, including placement in
safekeeping, to reduce the possibility of sexual abuse. TDCI’s internal training documents note
that LGBT people are vulnerable to sexual abuse while incarcerated and have a greater potential
for being victimized than other people in custody, and upon information and belief, Defendants
were aware of this information in TDCJ’s training documents.

130.  Upon information and belief, at all times relevant to this action, Defendants were
aware that LGBT people incarcerated in TDCJ are vulnerable to sexual abuse.

There Is a Pattern and Practice of Sexual Abuse of LGBT People in TDCJ Custody
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131. There is a pattern pursuant to which LGBT people are sexually assaunited in
TDCI.

132.  Ms. Star is not the only LGBT person incarcerated in TDCJ whose complaints
about sexual assault and the threat of sexual assault have been ignored.

133. Defendants have been confronted with numerous complaints and lawsuits by
LGBT people related to sexual assault in TDCJ and, upon information and belief, knew about
other LGBT people who were survivors of sexual assault while incarcerated.

134, Statistics published over the last half decade show that sexual abuse of inmates is
a significant and insufficiently addressed problem in TDCIJ facilities.

135. The Bureau of Justice Statistics (“BJS™), a branch of the Department of Justice,
published its first-ever inmate survey on sexual victimization in 2007 based on data from 146
prisons and found that five of the ten prisons with the highest reported levels of sexual abuse
were run by TDCJ, including Clements.

136.  Over 2008 and 2009, BIS conducted a follow-up survey of 29,954 inmates at 167
prisons to study rates of inmate-on-inmate sexual victimization. The 2010 report on that survey
designated Hughes as having the highest rate of inmate-on-inmate sexual victimization of all the
prisons surveyed, at 8.6 percent.

137.  Over 2011 and 2012, the BJS conducted a third survey, this time of 38,251
inmates in 233 prisons nationwide. The 2013 BIS report identified eleven “high-rate™ prisons,
meaning inmates there reported a rate of sexual victimization at least twice the national rate of
1.7 percent for male prisons. Clements again appeared with rate of 6.8 percent of people
incarcerated in Clements reporting that they have been sexually assaulted, the eighth highest rate

of all prison facilities surveyed nationwide.
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